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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
The Nebraska Clean Water State Revolving Loan Fund Annual Report for State Fiscal Year (SFY) 
2021 (July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021) describes the state's efforts to meet the goals and 
objectives of its Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) Program. The projects identified in 
the Intended Use Plan (IUP), the actual use of funds, and the financial position of the CWSRF are 
summarized in this report. The report is organized in two sections, the first section is the Financial 
Schedule Section along with the notes to the financial schedules, and the second section is the 
Program Section serving to provide supplemental documentation to the IUP. The reader should 
be aware that the financial information provided in the Program Section is cash based, while the 
information provided in the Financial Section is accrual based. It may be difficult to compare 
numbers between the two sections. 
 
Since 1989 the CWSRF has provided loans for 329 projects with a cumulative loan award amount 
of $642.2 million.  Due to the ongoing impacts from the Covid-19 pandemic, two notable 
amendments were made to the SFY 2021 IUP.  The first was a refinancing program wherein all 
qualified borrowers, primarily those without forgiveness assistance awarded within the past five 
years, were eligible for a reduction down to 0.5% Interest plus 0.5% Administration Fee.  A total 
of thirty-seven (37) loans were refinanced under that program.  Second, a 0% rate program for 
both interest and fee, had binding commitments made in the second half of the fiscal year.  
Twenty-six (26) communities will be provided 0% funding capped at $150 million, with the majority 
of that funding disbursed in subsequent years. 
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FINANCIAL SCHEDULES SECTION 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy (NDEE) - CWSRF Program was 
established pursuant to Title VI of the Federal Clean Water Act, as amended by the Water Quality 
Act of 1987. Nebraska Revised State Statute (Neb. Rev. Stat.) §81-15,147 created the 
Wastewater Treatment Facilities Construction Assistance Act. The Federal Water Quality Act and 
state statutes established the CWSRF to provide loans, at reduced interest rates, to finance the 
construction of publicly owned water pollution control facilities, nonpoint source pollution control 
projects, and estuary management plans. Instead of making grants to communities that pay for a 
portion of the building of wastewater treatment facilities, the Program provides for low interest 
loans to finance the entire cost of qualified projects. All repayments, including interest and 
principal, must be used for the purposes of the Program.  Starting in 1989, the Program is 
capitalized by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) by a series of annual 
grants. One of the conditions to receive a Federal Capitalization Grant is that the state must 
provide a non-federal match to the Program equaling at least 20 percent of the grant award.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, the EPA has awarded a total of $242 million in capitalization grants to 
Nebraska. Of the $242 million awarded, approximately $20 million was funded by the American 
Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA). The ARRA funds did not require states to contribute 
the required 20 percent match. The remaining $222 million capitalization grant funds required the 
state to contribute approximately $44.4 million in matching funds. The state provided 
appropriations to contribute $955,000 of the funds to meet the state’s matching requirement of 
the initial start-up of the program.  Additional matching funds have been obtained through the 
issuance of revenue bonds and cash funds. 
 

A. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 
 

This section of the financial report presents a narrative overview and analysis of the financial 
activities of the Program for the SFY 2021. This analysis has been prepared by management and 
is intended to be read in conjunction with the Program’s financial statements and related 
footnotes, which follow this section. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the Program’s basic 
financial statements. The Program’s basic financial statements include the following: 1) Unaudited 
Balance Sheet; 2) Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; 3) Unaudited 
Statement of Cash Flows; and 4) Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 

 The Unaudited Balance Sheet presents information on all of the Program’s assets and 
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. 

 The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents 
information showing how the Program’s net position changed during the most recent 
fiscal year. 
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 The Statement of Cash Flows presents the Program’s flows of cash by defined 
categories. The primary purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows is to provide 
information about the Program’s cash receipts and payments during the year. 

 The Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements 
and provide information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the financial statements. 

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS - ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
Changes in Net Position 
 
For SFY 2021, the Net Position of the Program increased by 2.7%. The increase in Net Position 
was largely impacted by a net increase in Cash of over $103 million. The decrease in the Liabilities 
is mainly due to the decrease Due to Grant Recipients of $98,904. 
 

NET POSITION 

 2021  2020  $ Change  % Change 
Current Assets $224,250,537  $121,335,663  -$102,914,874  84.8% 
Non-current Assets $122,126,627  $216,267,916  -$94,141,289  -43.5% 

Total Assets $346,377,164  $337,603,579  $-8,773,585  -2.6% 

        
Current Liabilities $220,683  $378,362  -$157,679  -41.7% 
Non-current Liabilities $27,243  $52,040  -$24,797  -47.6% 

Total Liabilities $247,926  $430,402  -$182,476  -42.48% 

        
Net Position:        
Net Investment in Capital Assets $466,069  $372,931  $93,138  25.0% 
Unrestricted $345,663,169  $336,800,246  $8,862,923  2.6% 

Total Net Position $346,129,238   $337,173,177   $8,956,061   2.7% 
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CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

 2021  2020  $ Change  % Change 
Loan Fees Administration $1,239,470  $1,692,988  -$453,518  -26.8% 
Interest on Loans $2,525,740  $3,626,238  -$1,100,498  -30.3% 
Fines, Forfeits, & Penalties $0  $0  $0          0.0% 

Total Operating Revenues $3,765,210  $5,319,226  -$1,554,016  -29.2% 

        
Administration $680,240  $758,175  -$77,935  -10.3% 
Grant Expense $213,384  $531,212  -$317,828  -59.8% 
Loan Forgiveness $557,854  $544,633  $13,221  2.4% 

Total Operating Expenses $1,451,478  $1,834,020  -$382,542  -20.9% 

        
Operating Income $2,313,732  $3,485,206  -$1,936,558  -55.6% 

        
Federal Grants $4,047,786  $8,013,306  -$3,965,520  -49.5% 
Interest Revenue $2,595,373  $2,078,766  $516,607  24.9% 
Bond Expenses -$11,257  $2,487  -$13,744  -552.6% 

Total Non-Operating Revenue (Expense) $6,631,902  $10,094,559  -$3,462,657  -34.3% 

        
Change in Net Position $8,945,634  $13,579,765  -$4,634,131  -34.1% 

        
Beginning Net Position on July 1, 2019 $337,183,604  $323,593,412  $13,590,192  4.2% 

        
Ending Net Position on June 30, 2020 $346,129,238   $337,183,604   $8,945,634   2.7% 

 
Loan forgiveness is awarded to communities who meet specific guidelines as approved in the 
annual IUP for financial need. They are not paid to a community until that community has 
allowable expenditures to report and, therefore, has a construction project that has commenced.  
 
The amount of funds used from each annual capitalization grant will vary each year and is 
dependent upon several variables including the number of communities applying for loans, the 
rate and total of reimbursement requests by communities, and the number of loans successfully 
processed; all of which affects the drawing of federal capitalization grant funds. 
 
Changes are inherent in the Program and are expected when draws are based on community 
requests. To more accurately reflect the type of revenue being reported, interest on investing 
activities has been reclassified from operating revenue to non-operating revenue. 
 
ECONOMIC OUTLOOK 
 
The state has continued to take steps to avert major economic impacts both statewide and 
within communities. The state’s small rural communities are financially challenged when faced 
with funding major capital projects. Aging and declining population bases make it difficult to 
draw the amount of user fees needed to fund capital infrastructure projects to address 
wastewater issues.  The negative impacts from the Covid-19 pandemic, with the resultant 
supply chain effects on equipment and material purchases (i.e., 4-month delays, ~30% cost 
increases, etc.), are still forecasted.   
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DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Short-Term Debt 
 
The Program had short-term debt activity during the fiscal year resulting from a bond issue. The 
bond issue was for $500,000, which was repaid and retired within the same fiscal year. 
 
LINKED DEPOSIT PROGRAM 
 
The Department continues the implementation of a Linked Deposit Program (LDP) for nonpoint 
source pollution control projects from authorizations in the Nebraska Administrative Code, Title 
131, Rules and Regulations for the Wastewater Treatment Facilities and Drinking Water 
Construction Assistance Program. The CWSRF will partner with eligible lending institutions, which 
will disburse loans to borrowers for these projects through a linked deposit loan program. Under 
this program, the state agrees to place funds into low-yielding deposits, and the lending institution 
agrees to provide loans to borrowers at reduced interest rates below market rates.  
 
Currently, due to historically low market interest rates, the Department has not been able to 
partner with lending institutions. The Program is working with local banking leaders to improve 
the LDP to provide additional incentives for the banking community. 
 
LOAN & GRANT TRACKING SYSTEM (LGTS) 
 
LGTS is a comprehensive software application developed by Northbridge Environmental, which 
is designed for Nebraska’s SRF staff to track and manage all aspects of the Clean and Drinking 
Water SRF programs from project loan application to final repayment, as well as to track all capital 
contributions, set-aside spending, and bond issuance and repayments. 
 
The software was developed to address the data management needs for all of the steps in the 
SRF management process, including priority list development, facility location and identification, 
documentation and files, engineering review and milestone tracking, inspections, contacts for a 
project, contract approvals and change orders, detailed payment request processing, project 
spending forecasts, encumbrances, funding draws and transfers, disbursements, amortization 
schedule creation and management, billing, repayment processing, fund deposits, and tracking 
of repaid funds by their original source, report and data generation, and more. The software also 
contains a customized general ledger to match existing accounting systems and create trial 
balances, financial statements, and related financial schedules. 
 
Nebraska’s SRF programs have implemented the LGTS system. The following is a brief timeline 
for the development and processing of LGTS system: 
 

 SFY 2014: Planning of the implementation phases, business rules, and hardware and 
software installations. 
 

 SFY 2015 and 2016: LGTS system was used concurrently with existing systems to 
create a basis for reliability and consistency. 
 

 SFY 2017: Existing internal system was discontinued and LGTS became the sole 
system for use within the SRF program alongside the State Accounting System. 
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 SFY 2020: Began building a web based LGTS to enhance SRF projects and financial 
loan/grant reporting and tracking. LGTS switched to a web-based format in August 2020. 

 
 SFY 2021:  Began building a cash flow model. 

 
Since implementation of the program, the NDEE has found that the LGTS has reduced the 
occurrence of human error, has increased efficiency and time savings, and overall increased 
productivity on projects. 
 
Up until November 30, 2019, contract costs for the purchase and implementation of the LGTS 
system has been handled through the existing Northbridge contract with EPA. That contract 
ended on November 30, 2019 and a new contract was not negotiated. EPA recommended that 
the states contract with Northbridge directly to allow more flexibility in the work. In order for our 
Department to complete the implementation of the web-based version of LGTS, and to have 
continued support on our current software that is used by our personnel on a daily basis, NDEE 
signed a new contract with Northbridge in SFY 2021. 
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY 
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

                              A. UNAUDITED BALANCE SHEET 
                                            Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 
 
    
  Enterprise Fund 

   
ASSETS   
  CURRENT ASSETS:   
    Cash in State Treasury   $       214,933,333  
    Due from Federal Government  27,701  
    Interest Receivable  260,114  
    Loans Receivable – Current            9,029,389  
            TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  224,250,537  
  NON-CURRENT ASSETS   
    Loans Receivable          121,660,558  
    Capital Assets, Net                466,069  
            TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS          122,126,627  
            TOTAL ASSETS   $     346,377,164 

   
   
LIABILITIES   
  CURRENT LIABILITIES:   
    Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities   $              3,439  
    Due to Grant Recipients                  213,228  
    Compensated Absences  3,438  
            TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  220,105 
  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:   
    Compensated Absences  27,821 
            TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  27,821 
   TOTAL LIABILITIES     $           247,926  
   
   
NET ASSETS   
    Net Investment in Capital Assets                466,069  
    Unrestricted          345,663,169  
            TOTAL NET POSITION          346,129,238 
            TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET POSITION   $     346,377,164  
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY 
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

B. STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

UNAUDITED 
 
 

  Enterprise Fund 

   
OPERATING REVENUES:   
    Loan Fees Administration   $         1,239,470  
    Interest on Loans              2,525,740  
    Fines Forfeits & Penalties                  0  
        TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES   $         3,765,210  

   
OPERATING EXPENSES:   
    Administrative Costs from Fees                288,664  
    4% Administrative Costs from Grants                178,424  
    Small Town Grants                405,186  
    Facility Planning Grants                21,350  
    Loan Forgiveness                 557,854  
        TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   $         1,451,478  

   
OPERATING INCOME              2,313,732  
   
NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)   
    Capital Contributions - Federal Grants              3,954,648  
    Capital Contributions - Federal Grants – Capital Assets                  93,139  
    Interest on Fund Balance - State Operating Investment Pool             2,595,373  
    Interest Expense on Bonds Payable  0 
    Bond Issuance  (11,257)  
        NET NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)      $       6,631,902  

   
CHANGE IN NET POSITION            8,945,634  
   
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR          337,183,604  

   
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR   $     346,129,238  
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY 

CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 
C. UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 
  

  Enterprise Fund 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
    Receipts from Customers   $     112,141,314  
    Interest on Fund Balance – Trustee                         -   
    Payments for Administration              (676,755) 
    Payments for Small Town Grants              (417,143) 
    Payments for Facility Planning Grants              (21,350) 
    Loan Forgiveness              (557,854) 
    Payments to Borrowers         (37,124,390) 
        NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   $     73,343,822 
   
CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Grants Received from the Environmental Protection Agency            3,954,648  
    Receipts from Bond Issue            1,122,000  
    Repayment of Bond           (1,122,000) 
    Bond Interest Payments                0 
    Payment for Bond Issuance Costs                 (11,257)  
     NET CASH PROVIDED BY NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:  $      3,943,391  

   
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
    Capital Contributions  93,139 
    Purchase of Capital Assets                (93,139) 
     NET CASH USED BY CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES   $             0 

   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:   
    Interest on Investments            2,595,373  
     NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES   $       2,595,373  

   
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents           79,882,586 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR          135,050,747  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR   $     214,933,333  
   
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED   
   BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
    Net Operating Income   $       2,313,732  
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH   
   USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
    (Increase)/Decrease in Loans Receivable  71,212,565 
    (Increase)/Decrease in Administration Fees Receivable                         -   
    (Increase)/Decrease in Loan Interest Receivable                         -   
    (Increase)/Decrease in Fines Receivable                         -   
    Increase/(Decrease) in Compensated Absences                 (27,212)  
    Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities                (56,203) 
    Increase/(Decrease) in Payables to Grant Recipients              (99,060) 
 
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   $     73,343,822 
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY 
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

D. NOTES TO THE GENERAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – UNAUDITED 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

A. Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying basic financial statements of the Department's Program have been 
prepared in conformity with accounting principles Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in the United States of America (GAAP), as applied to governmental units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting 
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 
 
The basic financial statements have been prepared primarily from accounts maintained 
by the State Accounting Administrator of the Department of Administrative Services 
(DAS). 

 
B. Reporting Entity 
 
The Program is established under and governed by the Clean Water Act of the federal 
government and by laws of the State of Nebraska. The Department is a state agency 
established under and governed by the laws of the State of Nebraska. As such, the 
Department is exempt from state and federal income taxes. The Program’s management 
has also considered all potential component units for which it is financially accountable 
and other organizations that are fiscally dependent on the Program or whose relationship 
with the Program is so significant that exclusion would be misleading or incomplete. The 
GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These 
criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body, and 
(1) the ability of the Department to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential 
for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial 
burdens on, the Department. The Department is also considered financially accountable 
if an organization is fiscally dependent on, and there is potential for the organization to 
provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the 
Department, regardless of whether the organization has (1) a separately elected 
governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or (3) 
a jointly appointed board. 

   
These financial statements present the Program. No component units were identified. The 
Program is part of the primary government for the State of Nebraska’s reporting entity.  
 
C. Fund Structure 
 
The Program’s accounts are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund 
accounting to ensure compliance with limitations and restrictions placed on the use of 
resources available to it. Under fund accounting, individual funds are established for the 
purposes of carrying on activities or attaining objectives in accordance with specific 
regulations, restrictions, or limitations. Each individual fund is a self-balancing set of 



 

13 
 

accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together with liabilities and residual 
equities or balances, and changes therein. 
 
The State Accounting System includes the following funds, as identified in the Wastewater 
Treatment Facilities Construction Assistance Act: 
 

 Clean Water Facilities Funds – Federal Funds 48412 and 48413; and Bond Funds 
68471, 68472, and 68473. 

 
 Administration Funds – Cash Funds 28460. 

 
These funds are used to account for revenues and expenses for loans and administrative 
expenses of the Program. 
 
The activity of these State of Nebraska funds has been combined and reported as an 
enterprise fund, which under governmental GAAP is a proprietary fund type. This fund 
type reflects transactions used to account for those operations that are financed and 
operated in a manner similar to a private business. The accounting for the Program’s 
transactions in this manner is a requirement of the EPA, as it and the Department have 
decided that the determination of the revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net 
income is necessary to demonstrate the success of the Program and to assure the EPA 
that the Program will be available in perpetuity, as intended. 

 
This fund classification differs from the classification used in the State of Nebraska’s 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The CAFR classifies the cash funds, 
federal funds, and bond funds as special revenue funds, as they meet the definition of 
special revenue funds under GASB Statement 54. In that statement, special revenue 
funds are defined as funds used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specific purposes. 
 

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its 
measurement focus and basis of accounting. An enterprise fund is accounted for on a flow 
of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and 
all liabilities associated with the operation of the fund are included on the balance sheet. 
Enterprise fund operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases 
(i.e., expenses) in total net position. 

 
Enterprise funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are 
recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. 
 
E. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
In addition to bank accounts and petty cash, this classification includes all short-term 
investments, such as certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, and U.S. treasury 
bills. These short-term investments may have original maturities (remaining time to 
maturity at acquisition) greater than three months; however, cash is available and is 
considered cash and cash equivalents for reporting purposes. Banks pledge collateral, as 
required by law, to guarantee state funds held in time and demand deposits. 
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Cash and cash equivalents are under the control of the State Treasurer or other 
administrative bodies, as determined by law. All cash deposited with the State Treasurer 
is initially maintained in a pooled cash account. On a daily basis, the State Treasurer 
invests cash not needed for current operations with the State’s Investment Council, which 
maintains an operating investment pool for such investments. Interest earned on these 
investments is allocated to funds based on their percentage of the investment pool. 
 
F. Loans Receivable 
 
The state operates the Program as a direct loan program, whereby loans are made to 
communities. Loan funds are disbursed to the local agencies as they expend funds for the 
purposes of the loan. Interest is calculated from the date the funds are advanced. After 
the final disbursement has been made, the amortization schedule identified in the loan 
agreement is adjusted for the actual amounts disbursed. The current interest rates on 
loans range from 0% to 4.0%, and the terms on outstanding loans range from 10 to 30 
years.   
 
The Program loans are funded from federal capitalization grants, state match funding, and 
repaid funds from issued CWSRF loans. The grants are funded, on average, 83.33% from 
federal funds and 16.67% from state match funds. Reimbursements to communities are 
paid 100% from State matching funds until those funds have been exhausted, and then 
from federal capitalization grant funds or CWSRF. The CWSRF is financed through 
principal repayments plus interest earnings available to finance new projects, allowing the 
funds to “revolve” over time.  

 
The current loans receivable amount was determined using the amount of principal 
payment due to the Program at June 30, 2021, which is collectible for SFY 2022. Loans 
receivable that were paid in full, prior to their due date, as of August 31, 2021, were 
included in the current loans receivable balance as opposed to the long-term receivable 
balances. 

 
G. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at fiscal year-end and revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

 
H. Compensated Absences 
 
All nonsupervisory permanent employees working for the Program earn sick and annual 
leave and are allowed to accumulate compensatory leave rather than be paid overtime. 
Temporary and intermittent employees are not eligible for paid leave. The liability has been 
calculated using the vesting method, in which leave amounts, for both employees currently 
eligible to receive termination payments and other employees expected to become eligible 
in the future to receive such payments upon termination, are included. 
 
Program employees accrue vested annual leave at a variable rate based on years of 
service. Generally, accrued annual leave cannot exceed 35 days at the end of a calendar 
year. Employees accrue sick leave at a variable rate based on years of service. In general, 
accrued sick leave cannot exceed 240 days. There is no maximum limit on the 
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accumulation of sick leave days for employees under certain labor contracts. Sick leave 
is not vested except upon death or upon reaching the retirement eligibility age of 55 – or 
a younger age, if the employee meets all criteria necessary to retire under the primary 
retirement plan covering his/her State employment, at which time the State is liable for 25 
percent of the employee’s accumulated sick leave. Employees under certain labor 
contracts can only be paid a maximum of 60 days. 
 
The Program’s financial statements recognize the expense and accrued liability when 
vacation and compensatory leave is earned or when sick leave is expected to be paid as 
termination payments. 

 
I. Due to Grant Recipients 
 
The Program awards Facility Planning Grants and Small Town Grants to communities with 
populations below 10,000 demonstrating serious financial hardship (determined by the 
community’s median household income (MHI)). Municipalities with wastewater treatment 
facility projects that have submitted an application and whose needs are identified on the 
Project Priority Planning List in the annual IUP will be considered for grants. 

 
Loan Forgiveness Grants are additional subsidization for municipalities from the Program 
that are offered for eligible recipients in accordance with the annual IUP and are provided 
concurrent with loans. Prior to July 1, 2020, the Program could award a maximum of 
$150,000 per project, with up to a 50% loan match.  A transition to a tiered forgiveness 
percentage based on population and median household income was made this fiscal year, 
with the $150,000 option planned to end in SFY 2022. The Program’s power and authority 
to distribute the additional subsidization is an existing authority under the Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§81-1504(4) and §81-15,150.  
 
For borrowers to qualify for Loan Forgiveness, they must have a population of 10,000 or 
less and must be considered a financial disadvantaged community in regard to meeting 
an affordability criteria. To help assess a community’s affordability criteria, the Program 
uses a score established by the Department’s Assessing Wastewater Infrastructure Needs 
(AWIN) program. In 2012, the Department developed the AWIN program to assist 
struggling communities in Nebraska to better afford, maintain, and operate wastewater 
infrastructure projects. The goal of AWIN is to use current information to provide accurate 
estimates of future conditions in Nebraska communities to develop sustainable projects 
and minimize financial burdens for struggling communities. AWIN examines various 
factors affecting communities, such as population trends, population, medium household 
income, unemployment, average age of residents, and infrastructure needs to develop a 
“sustainability risk” analysis. Sustainability risk scoring is divided into three categories: low 
risk, moderate risk, and high risk. Applicants with a moderate or high sustainability risk are 
thought to potentially need the most assistance to bring them into and keep them in 
compliance for the future with as little additional stress as possible and may qualify to 
receive Loan Forgiveness funds. The Program acknowledges that information used to 
assess and evaluate a community may not properly reflect the entire community’s current 
financial situation or scope. As such, applicants that are categorized as a low sustainability 
risk can submit a request to be considered a community under financial hardship to the 
Program and possibly qualify for Loan Forgiveness upon review.  
 
The loan recipient will not be required to repay the portion of the loan principal that has 
been designated as Loan Forgiveness under the terms and conditions of the loan contract. 
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Loan Forgiveness is considered a grant for purposes of the financial statements, since 
repayment is not required.  
 
Due to the 2020 Census, the Program will be reviewing and updating the model with the 
newest Census data when it is available. While making these adjustments, variables of 
the AWIN model will also be evaluated to determine if they actually depict each 
community’s sustainability risk. Upon further review, some variables may be added or 
removed depending on how they contribute to the assessment.  
 
For Facility Planning Grants, Small Town Grants and Loan Forgiveness awards, once the 
municipality submits proof of vendor payment to the Department, eligible costs are 
reimbursable. The Program’s financial statements recognized the expense and accrued 
liability to the Program when the municipality incurred the project expense, which may not 
have been in the same fiscal year as when costs were reimbursed by the Program. 
 
J. Operating Revenues and Expenses 
 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing 
and delivering goods in connection with the Program’s principal ongoing operations. The 
operating revenues of the Program include loan fees administration and interest on loans, 
since making loans is the primary purpose of the Program. The operating expenses of the 
Program are administration expenses, small town grants, facility planning grants and loan 
forgiveness. 
 
K. Capital Asset 
 
The Program has only one capital asset, the LGTS software, and it is recorded at cost. 
The Department began the development phase of the LGTS software during SFY 2014 
and was completed during SFY 2017. The LGTS software is considered an Intangible 
Capital Asset, and the Department follows the capitalization policy set forth by the State 
of Nebraska for Intangible Capital Assets, which requires capitalization of such assets 
when the cost of such asset is in excess of $100,000 and has an expected life of greater 
than one year. The LGTS software has an estimated useful life of seven years. 
 
Depreciation/amortization will begin upon completion of the development phase and the 
software being put into production and will be computed using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful life of the asset.  

 
2. Cash in State Treasury 
   

Cash in State Treasury, as reported on the balance sheet, is under the control of the 
Nebraska State Treasurer or other administrative bodies, as determined by law. 
Investment of all available cash is made by the State Investment Officer on a daily basis, 
based on total bank balances. These funds are held in the State of Nebraska Operating 
Investment Pool (OIP), an internal investment pool. Additional information on the deposits 
and investments portfolio, including investment policies, risks, and types of investments, 
can be found in the State of Nebraska’s CAFR for the SFY 2021. All interest revenue is 
allocated to the General Fund, except allocations required by law to be made to other 
funds. All funds of the Program were designated for investment during SFY 2021. 
Amounts are allocated monthly based on average balances of all invested funds. 
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3. Loans Receivable 
 

As of June 30, 2021, the Program had 175 outstanding community loans to 135 separate 
communities that totaled $130,689,947. The outstanding balances of the 10 communities 
with the largest loan balances, which represent 65.4% of the total loans, are as followed: 
 

Community       Outstanding Balance 
York $21,036,233  
Lincoln 16,121,754 
South Sioux City 10,580,879 
Kearney 9,869,304 
Gretna 6,695,782 
Dakota City 5,886,178 
Wayne 4,325,805 
Plattsmouth 4,085,770 
Broken Bow 3,666,188 
Sidney 3,221,507 
TOTAL $85,489,400  

 
4. Capital Assets  
 

The CWSRF capital assets activity for SFY 2021 are: 
 

  

Beginning 
Balance as 
Restated  Additions  Retirements  

Ending 
Balance 

Software Development In-Progress 
Loans and Grants Tracking System 
(LGTS)  $ 372,931  $ 93,138  $                 -  466,069 

  
 
5. Bonds Payable 

 
The EPA requires the Program to provide 20% matching funds for each capitalization 
grant as required by the Federal Clean Water Act, §602(b)(2). Interest revenue from 
Program loans is pledged to pay off the bonds. Bonds Payable activity for SFY 2021 on 
the short-term bond are as followed: 
 
 Beginning 

Balance Additions Retirements 
Ending 
Balance 

Bonds Payable  $    -  $ 1,620,000   $ 1,620,000  $   - 
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6. Noncurrent Liabilities 

 
Changes in noncurrent liabilities for SFY 2021 are as followed:  
 

 
Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases 

Ending 
Balance 

Amounts Due 
Within One 

Year 
Compensated 
Absences $    52,040 $          $      24,219 $      27,821 $             3,439 

   
 7.  Capital Contributions 

 
Included in the net position is the total amount of capitalization grants drawn from the EPA 
by the Department. The following summarizes the capitalization grants awarded and 
drawn, as well as the remaining balance as of June 30, 2021. The year column relates 
directly to the grant amount column and represents the federal fiscal year the grant funds 
were appropriated by Congress. The amount drawn column is as of June 30, 2021 and 
may have been drawn over multiple years. The remaining balance is unused funds from 
the 4% of the Capitalization Grant, which are to be used for administration costs. The 
remaining funds is a result in a reduction in engineering review costs. The remaining funds 
will be transferred over to the loan fund within the next quarter.  
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Federal Fiscal  
Year* Available Grant Amount Amount Drawn Balance 

1989 $   4,773,100  $   4,773,100                         -  
1990 4,964,560  4,964,560  -  
1991 10,821,580  10,821,580  -  
1992 9,938,500  9,938,500  -  
1993 9,830,300  9,830,300  -  
1994 6,061,600  6,061,600  -  
1995 6,263,600  6,263,600  -  
1996 10,319,661  10,319,661  -  
1997 3,119,900  3,119,900  -  
1998 7,019,996  7,019,996  -  
1999 6,857,600  6,857,600  -  
2000 6,834,000  6,834,000  -  
2001 6,797,400  6,797,400  -  
2002 6,855,000  6,855,000  -  
2003 7,069,900  7,069,900  -  
2004 6,747,100  6,747,100  -  
2005 5,467,300  5,467,300  -  
2006 4,424,300  4,424,300  -  
2007 5,429,600  5,429,600  -  
2008 3,415,700  3,415,700  -  

2009 - ARRA 20,045,000 20,045,000 -  
2009 3,415,700 3,415,700 -  
2010 10,422,000 10,422,000 -  
2011 7,529,000 7,529,000 -  
2012 7,202,000 7,202,000 -  
2013 6,798,000 6,798,000 -  
2014 7,144,000 7,144,000 - 
2015 7,107,000 7,107,000 - 
2016 6,771,276 6,771,276 - 
2017 6,750,000 6,750,000  

          2018 8,070,261 8,070,261  
          2019 8,109,000 8,109,000  
          2020                                 8,110,000 3,488,550 4,621,450 

TOTAL $   240,483,934 $   235,862,484 $   4,621,450 
*Federal Fiscal Year is from October 1 of a year through September 30 of the next year.                                                                                               

 
Not included in the above grant totals are the amounts set-aside as in-kind contributions 
for the LGTS software development. The total amount utilized for LGTS as of June 30, 
2021, was $466,069. Additional in-kind contributions were received and capitalized for the 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program which also utilizes the LGTS software. 

 
8. Loan Fees Administration 

 
To meet the long-term administrative needs of the Program, an annual fee of up to 1% is 
charged against the outstanding principal on loans. These fees are calculated on a semi-
annual basis and billed when loan principal and interest payments are due. These fees 
are not included in the loan principal. The Director of the Program may waive this fee 
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during construction, except on projects that only receive interim financing during 
construction. The fee is applied to all loans in accordance with Title 131 and the IUP. 
 

9. Interest on Fund Balance – State Operating Investment Pool 
 
The reported amount represents the earnings the Program received from idle funds 
invested by the Nebraska State Treasurer with the State’s Investment Council. Interest is 
credited on approximately the 25th day of each month. 
 

10. Operating Expenses 
  
The operating expenses of the Program are classified, for financial reporting purposes, 
into five categories: 
 

1) Administrative Costs from Fees 
 
To meet the long-term administrative needs of the program, an annual fee of up to 
1% is charged against the outstanding principal on loans. This fee is deposited into 
a separate account and is used for administrative costs of the Program and other 
eligible water quality related purposes. The fee on a loan made from leveraged 
bond proceeds may be set to reflect the cost of issuing bonds and management of 
the leveraged loan portfolio. 
 
2) 4% Administrative Costs from Grants 
 
The Federal Water Pollution Control Act allows for additional options in 
determining the amount of administration funds that can be utilized from the 
capitalization grant. The maximum annual amount of CWSRF funds (not including 
any fees collected that are placed in the fund) that may be used to cover 
reasonable costs of administering the fund is the greatest of the following: 

 
1. $400,000; or 
2. 0.2% of the current valuation of the fund; or 
3. An amount equal to 4% of all grant awards received by the State CWSRF 

less any amounts used in previous years to cover administrative expenses. 
 

For the SFY 2021, the CWSRF program utilized $522,536 of the 4% for additional 
administrative funds. 
 
3) Small Town Grants 
 
Per Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-15,151(2) and §81-15,153(11), Small Town Grants are 
made available to communities that have populations of 10,000 inhabitants or less 
and demonstrate serious financial hardship. The IUP also sets additional eligibility 
requirements for Small Town Grants. Total amount of grants issued to a borrower 
cannot exceed one half of the total eligible project costs. The maximum amount to 
be awarded in Small Town Grants in combination with the Facility Planning Grants 
is set at 65% of the revenue from administrative fees collected in the prior fiscal 
year. The total amount of grants allowed to be signed into loan contracts for SFY 
2021 was capped at $633,312. The IUP set the upper limit of grant to each 
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community at $250,000 per project, concurrent with a Program loan. Projects are 
prioritized based project type and community Median Household Income. 
 
4) Facility Planning Grants 
 
Facility planning grants may be provided to municipalities with populations of 
10,000 or fewer inhabitants that demonstrate serious financial hardship. 
Municipalities with wastewater treatment facility project needs that are identified 
on the project priority planning list and have not received a grant in the past five 
years, may receive up to 90% of project costs in Facility Planning Grant, up to a 
maximum of $20,000 per project. These grants are funded through the 
Administrative Cash Fund.  
 
5) Loan Forgiveness 
 
The Program provides additional subsidization in the form of loan forgiveness with 
up to a maximum of $150,000 per project or based on the new tiered percentages 
based on community populations for qualifying disadvantaged communities that 
meet the affordability criteria found in the IUP. Total amount of grants issued to a 
borrower cannot exceed one half of the total eligible project costs. Awarding loan 
forgiveness is dependent on the availability of funding from Federal capitalization 
grants and the total amount of funds the Program decides to allocate for 
forgiveness from each grant. The Program will reserve up to $811,000 
(approximately 10% of the Capitalization Grant) for forgiveness to be used for 
additional subsidization. The Program’s authority to distribute the additional 
subsidization is an existing authority under the Neb. Rev. Stat. §81-1504(4) and 
§81-15,150. Together, these statutes allow the Program to accept and expend 
Federal grants for designated projects. Loan forgiveness discharges the 
community from repaying that portion of the principal amount of its loan under the 
terms and conditions of the loan contract. 

 
11. State Employees Retirement Plan (Plan) 
 

The single-employer Retirement Plan became effective by statute on January 1, 1964. 
The Public Employees Retirement Board was created in 1971 to administer the plan. The 
plan consists of a defined contribution option and a cash balance benefit. The cash 
balance benefit is a type of defined benefit plan. Each member employed and participating 
in the retirement system prior to January 1, 2003, elected either to continue participation 
in the defined contribution option or to begin participation in the cash balance benefit. The 
defined contribution option is closed to new entrants. All new members of the plan on and 
after January 1, 2003, become members of the cash balance benefit. The benefits and 
funding policy of the plan are established and can only be amended by the Nebraska 
Legislature. 
 
All permanent full-time employees are required to begin participation in the retirement plan 
upon employment.  
 
Contribution – Per statute, each member contributes 4.8% of his or her compensation. 
The Department matches the member’s contribution at a rate of 156%. The employee’s 
and employer’s contributions are kept in separate accounts. 
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The employer’s account is fully vested after a total of three years of participation in the 
plan. 
 
Defined Contribution Option – Upon attainment of age 55, regardless of service, the 
retirement allowance shall be equal to the sum of the employee and employer account. 
Members have several forms of payment available, including withdrawals, deferrals, 
annuities, or a combination of these. 

 
Cash Balance Benefit – Upon attainment of age 55, regardless of service, the retirement 
allowance shall be equal to the accumulated employee and employer cash balance 
accounts, including interest credits, annuitized for payment. Members will have the option 
to convert their member cash balance account to a monthly annuity with built-in cost-of-
living adjustments of 2.5% annually. Also available are additional forms of payment 
allowed under the Plan, which are actuarially equivalent to the normal form, including the 
option of lump-sum or partial lump-sum. 
 
For SFY 2021, SRF employees contributed $13,610.16 and the Department contributed 
$21,177.41. A separate plan report is issued and can be obtained from the Nebraska 
Public Employees Retirement System. This report contains full pension-related 
disclosures. 

 
The State of Nebraska CAFR also includes pension-related disclosures. The CAFR report 
is available from the Nebraska Department of Administrative Services – Accounting 
Division or on the Nebraska Auditor of Public Accounts’ website at 
www.auditors.nebraska.gov. 

 
12. Contingencies and Commitments 

 
Risk Management – The Department is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft 
of, damage to, or destruction of assets, errors or omissions, injuries to employees, and 
natural disasters. The Department, as part of the primary government for the State, 
participates in the State’s risk management program. DAS is responsible for maintaining the 
insurance and self-insurance programs for the state. The state typically self-insures for 
general liability, employee health care, employee indemnification, and workers’ 
compensation. The state has chosen to purchase insurance for the following: 

 
A. Motor vehicle liability, which is insured for the first $5,000,000 of exposure per 

accident with a self-insured retention of $300,000 per accident. Insurance is also 
purchased, with various limits and deductibles, for physical damage and uninsured 
and underinsured motorists. State agencies have the option to purchase coverage 
for physical damage to vehicles. 

 
B. Crime coverage, with a limit of $31,000,000 for each loss, and a $25,000 self-insured 

retention per incident subject to specific conditions, limits, and exclusions. 
 
C. Real and personal property on a blanket basis for losses up to $250,000,000, with a 

self-insured retention of $200,000 per loss occurrence. Newly acquired properties 
are covered up to $10,000,000 for 120 days and, after 120 days, if the property has 
not been reported, the limit decreases to $5,000,000. The perils of flood, earthquake, 
and acts of terrorism have various coverage, sub-limits, and self-insurance. State 
agencies have the option to purchase building contents and inland marine coverage. 
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Details of the various insurance coverage are available from DAS – Risk Management Division. 

 
No settlements exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
Health care insurance is funded in the Insurance Trust Funds through a combination of 
employee and State contributions. Workers’ compensation is funded in the Workers’ 
Compensation Internal Service Fund through assessments on each agency based on total 
agency payroll and past experience. Tort claims, theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets, 
errors or omissions, and natural disasters would be funded through the State General Fund or 
by individual agency assessments, as directed by the Legislature, unless covered by purchased 
insurance. No amounts for estimated claims have been reported in the Program’s financial 
statements. 

 

II. PROGRAM INFORMATION SECTION 

 A. FUND ACTIVITIES 

 1. Loan and Investment Status 
 

The fund has a loan portfolio containing $662,720,444, which is comprised of $642,238,604 in 
loans and $20,481,840 of obligated loan forgiveness. Of the $642,238,604 in loans, 
$449,863,629 has been repaid and $63,571,710 has yet to be dispersed, leaving a current 
outstanding loan balance of $130,689,947. Of the $20,481,840 of Loan Forgiveness, 
$19,078,005 has been dispersed. Details on the Fund Loan Portfolio are in Attachment 1. The 
SFY 2021 blended interest rate on the outstanding loan balance is 1.15%. With last year’s rate 
at 1.59%, this year’s blended interest rate was 44 basis points below last year.  The reason for 
the decline was the new refinancing program which started in January to limit the number of 
private buyouts of outstanding loans.  An additional reduction is forecasted upon the 0% loan 
program being fully implemented. 

2. Source of CWSRF Funds by Quarter 
 
 The $500,000 Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (NIFA) / CWSRF 2020B bond, state 

match for the FFY 2020 capitalization grant was issued on August 6, 2020, coupled with a 
transfer from the Administration Cash Fund for the capitalization grant award made on July 10, 
2020. 

 
SOURCE OF STATE MATCH 

PROGRAM FUNDING AND FFY 2020 
CAPITALIZATION GRANT 

 
NIFA 
Bond 

Quarter Bond Funds Cash 

2020B SFY 2021-Q1 $500,000 1,122,000 
 

CAPITALIZATION GRANT PAYMENT SCHEDULE 
 

 
 
 

 
 

CAP GRANT QUARTER PAYMENT 
FFY 2020 SFY 2020-Q1 $8,110,000 
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3. Binding Commitments 
 

The CWSRF entered into six new binding commitments and four typical loan amendments to 
existing funded communities, which provided financial assistance totaling $10,686,697. The 
binding commitment total for SFY 2021, plus 4% administration, equals $10,836,697. The 
cumulative binding commitment exceeds the federal 120% binding commitment requirement for 
SFY 2021. The cumulative binding commitment amount of initial loan awards plus 4% 
administration totals $747,059,243.  In addition, a total of thirty-seven loan amendments were 
signed under the 0.5%/0.5% refinancing program.  
 
Attachment 2 provides information showing the binding commitments entered during SFY 2021 
and shows the cumulative binding commitment amount for initial loan awards and 4% 
administration since the program initiation. The requirement is to allocate 120% of the 
capitalization grant within one year. The CWSRF has reached $746,909,243 or 270% of the 
required amount.  
 
4. Small Town and Planning Grant Report 
 
The Department has authority to obligate up to 65% of the previous SFY administration fee 
income for Small Town Grants and Facility Planning Grants. In SFY 2021, $633,312 was 
available for Small Town Grants and $20,000 was made available to Facility Planning Grants.  
 
The following table reports allocations to projects during SFY 2021 for Small Town Grants. 
Attachment 3 provides more detail on fund history, disbursements, and balances. 
 
COMMUNITY PROJECT # GRANT AWARD DATE GRANT AMOUNT 
Nickerson 8024-01 7/13/20 $250,000 
Knox Co. SID #1 8019-01 2/21/21 $170,497 
Clearwater 8025-01 5/13/21 $212,815 
SFY 2021 Allocation 
Total 

  $633,312 

 
CWSRF administration cash funds were used to provide financial assistance to eligible 
municipalities for facility planning reports for wastewater treatment system improvement projects 
that will seek funding through the Water Wastewater Advisory Committee (WWAC) Common 
Pre-application Process. This financial assistance is being provided to communities to identify 
capital improvement needs, as well as increase their readiness to proceed in accomplishing 
these improvements. 
 
Facility Planning Grants may be provided to municipalities with populations of 10,000 or fewer 
people that are identified with a serious financial hardship. This includes any city, town, village, 
sanitary improvement district, natural resources district, or other public body created by or 
pursuant to state law having jurisdiction over a wastewater treatment facility. Privately owned 
wastewater treatment systems are not eligible for assistance. 
 
Grants are provided for up to 90% of the eligible facility plan project cost but cannot exceed 
$20,000. Facility planning grants were awarded to St. Paul in SFY 2021. Since the grant 
program’s inception, the CWSRF has awarded planning grants to 87 communities for a total of 
$1,478,170.  
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B. GOALS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

1. Provisions of the Operating Agreement/Conditions of the Grant 
 
The State of Nebraska agreed to the following conditions in the Operating Agreement and Grant 
Agreement, all of which have been met. 
 

 Agreement to Accept Payments 
 State Laws and Procedures 
 State Accounting and Auditing Procedures 
 Recipient Accounting and Auditing Procedures 
 Use of the Automated Clearinghouse 
 Repayments 
 Annual Audit 
 Annual Report 
 Annual Review 
 Anti-Lobbying Act 
 Drug-Free Workplace 
 Rural Area Business Enterprise Development Plan 
 First Use of Funds for Enforceable Requirements 
 Provide a State Match at 100% 
 Binding Commitments Within One Year 
 Expeditious and Timely Expenditures 
 Eligible Activities of the SRF 
 Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) 
 Minority Business Enterprise/Woman Business Enterprise (MBE/WBE) 

Requirements 
 Other Federal Authorities 
 State Environmental Review Process (SERP) 
 Cash Draw Procedures 

 
The Program is required by federal and state regulations to do a National Environmental Policy 
Act (NEPA) like review for funded projects. Last fiscal year, it was determined no Environmental 
Impact Statements (EIS) were necessary. Environmental Assessments (EA) were prepared 
and a Finding of No Significant Impact (FNSI) was issued for six projects: Gretna, Omaha, 
Aurora, Plymouth, Schuyler and Sarpy County Wastewater Agency. Categorical Exclusions 
(CE) were issued for fourteen projects: Laurel, Clearwater, Prague, Fairbury, Phillips, Cass 
County SID #5, Cozad, Falls City, Lexington, Loup City, O’Neill, St. Paul, Valentine and Yutan.  
The Department distributes these EAs via mailings to relevant stakeholders and posts them 
online at the Department’s website for public review and comment.  
 
The following seven SRF wastewater projects initiated operation in SFY 2021: Gothenburg, 
Benkelman, Knox County SID#1, Hampton, Chambers, Broadwater, and Central City, along 
with the Sarpy County Wastewater Agency completing their facility planning document. 
 
EPA allows states to utilize equivalency for some regulations or conditions of the capitalization 
grant. The CWSRF is working on Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act 
(FFATA) requirements which include, Architectural and Engineering procurement and signage 
for projects used for equivalency. The developing Sarpy County Wastewater Agency project 
will be used to satisfy the requirements of the FFY 2020 cap grant.  
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 2. Short-Term Goals and Accomplishments 
 
            Six short term goals were described in SFY 2021 IUP. The CWSRF has made significant 

progress toward successful completion of most of its short-term goals. The goals are listed and 
discussed as followed: 
 

1. Provide compliance assistance to CWSRF current borrowers through means of various 
project meetings and on-site inspections.  

 
Project engineers and project managers make sure to provide borrowers with the necessary 
documents and guidance to ensure their project is in compliance. In addition, project managers 
attended preconstruction meetings when invited to deliver necessary documents, provide 
guidance, and to answer any questions the borrower, consulting engineers, or contractors may 
have. All documents received by the borrower are reviewed by SRF staff for completeness and 
accuracy. The Program strives to keep a good working relationship with the consulting engineers 
that assist borrowers with their projects and the various program requirements.  

 
2. Review SRF funding mechanisms/alternatives to determine if an alternative would result 

in providing greater benefits to more communities. 
 

While not the original intent of the goal, the economic crisis sparked by the COVID-19 pandemic 
has shown over the past year the importance of the SRF programs to stay ahead of shifting 
financial market conditions. The pandemic brought a sudden increase of borrowers assessing 
whether to pay off their SRF loans through privately refinancing their SRF debt. In response the 
program amended the IUP twice to save communities on the cost of borrowing, as well as 
prevent further increases in cash balances. The first of those amendments was a refinancing 
program wherein all qualified borrowers, primarily those without forgiveness assistance awarded 
within the past five years, were eligible for a reduction down to 0.5% Interest plus 0.5% 
Administration Fee.  Second, a 0% rate program, both interest and fee, had new binding 
commitments made in the second half of the fiscal year.  Twenty-six (26) communities will be 
provided 0% funding capped at $150 million, with the majority of that funding disbursed in 
subsequent years. 

3. Develop and implement a workforce development program for water utility operators in 
order to provide assistance to communities in recruiting to combat an aging workforce in 
utility operations.  

 
Questionnaires were sent out with our annual needs surveys to gain a better understanding of 
the water workforce in Nebraska, its needs, and how the jobs compared to others across the 
state. It was learned that most of the positions were part time operators with a measurable 
amount of other community responsibilities. We also coordinated several calls with National 
Rural Water and other state programs to learn what options exists for apprenticeships, pay 
changes, and benefits to increase interest in these positions.  This goal will continue to be 
assessed and evaluated in the next fiscal year.  

4. Target available loan funds to high priority needs in order to encourage construction of 
the highest impact water quality and/or human health improvement projects by providing 
the best funding assistance available.  

 
The Program used a priority ranking system to evaluate facilities in eight categories, with the 
greater number of points resulting in the higher the ranking. The eight categories are: 
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 project benefit; 
 beneficial use and classification of receiving water; 
 water quality of receiving waters; 
 enforcement actions;  
 readiness to proceed; 
 population served; 
 AWIN; and  
 financial impacts. 

  
In addition, the Program continually evaluates this ranking system as well as the AWIN 
program’s parameters to ensure financial assistance is being prioritized and going to 
communities with the greatest needs. For the five of the six loans signed last fiscal year, seven 
of the eight ranking criteria were satisfied.  Then for Clearwater, their project was funded in 
conjunction with USDA-Rural Development, and will resolve an administrative order (i.e., the 
eighth ranking factor). 

5. Pursue public and private sector partnership by assisting in collaboration between 
municipalities and industry. 

 
The loan closed with Laurel, in conjunction with funding from the Community Development Block 
Grant program, will result in the improvement of all utilities and the overall beautification of the 
City’s downtown.  The project was planned to not only replace aging wastewater infrastructure, 
but to both retain and attract new businesses to the community.  

 
6. Appraise and further develop the AWIN program to ensure accurate information is being 

utilized in determining municipality assistance; calculate municipalities’ sustainability 
risk; and adjust the program to maintain the most current state and federal requirements.  

 
A preliminary rework of the AWIN program was completed, in part following the 2021 Financial 
Capability Assessment Guidance.  With a regulatory freeze of that guidance issued in January, 
the program will continue to further evaluate AWIN, in conjunction with an assessment of the 
Community Sustainability Tool, with the intent of achieving this goal by the end of 2022.  

 
3. Long Term Goals and Accomplishments 

 
 Eight long term goals were included in the IUP: 
 

1. Manage the Nebraska CWSRF Program to fund projects which protect and improve the 
public health of the citizens of the state. 

 
NDEE continues to capitalize the fund at the largest level possible, to grow the fund at a rate 
greater than the long-term construction inflation rate. Other activities include: reviewing 
management practices annually to assist in achieving growth goals; requesting EPA 
capitalization grants and providing state match in a timely manner; encouraging the federal 
government to continue annual capitalization grants for this fund; allocating grant funds, match 
and recycle funds to projects in a timely manner; providing technical and financial support 
through recommendations to those communities needing additional assistance; and continue to 
market and promote awareness of the CWSRF Program.  

 
2. Protect and enhance Nebraska’s water resources, the environment, and human health 

by providing affordable funding for eligible clean water projects. 
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Cost-effective project alternatives will be promoted to stretch funding, primarily forgiveness/grant 
assistance for communities in need. AWIN has been incorporated as a tool to provide for 
affordability and sustainability over the term of the loan.  In response to market conditions during 
the Covid-19 pandemic, a 0% rate program, both interest and fee, had binding commitments 
made in the second half of the fiscal year.   

 
3. Attend workshops/conferences and meet with municipalities, consultants, and other 

stakeholders to promote the CWSRF program to the public as well as identify potential 
CWSRF projects and obtain stakeholder input regarding modifications or enhancements 
to the CWSRF program. 
 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, personal interaction with the public has been limited. 
Regardless, staff continues to work daily with the municipalities, engineering consultants and 
other stakeholders through means of emails, conference calls, video calls, and webinars. The 
NDEE completed an annual SRF needs survey in December of 2020, ranking projects for the 
SFY 2022 IUP. Three hundred and sixty-one (361) communities responded identifying a total of 
$641 million in needs. As the ability to meet in public becomes available again, staff will continue 
to participate in conferences/workshops, attend community board meetings to assistance in 
project planning, and inter-agency training on the SRF program.  

 
4. Encourage the incorporation of green infrastructure concepts and energy recovery, 

production, and conservation in CWSRF funded projects through adjusted interest rates 
and grant opportunities. 
 

The Program continues to promote Green Project Reserve (GPR) funding by offering a reduction 
of 0.5% of the interest rate in projects with qualifying GPR components.  

 
5. Request annual EPA capitalization grants and provide state match in a timely manner. 

 
The Program will continue to apply for the annual CWSRF capitalization grant as soon as 
possible during the SFY. In addition, NDEE will continue to promote the submittal of our program 
needs survey and participate in the national needs surveys, which establishes the foundation 
for securing bonds for state match purposes.  

 
6. Annually prioritize potential CWSRF projects in Nebraska according to the greatest 

chronic public health and environmental health concerns being addressed and their 
readiness to proceed with construction and implementation. Allocate available CWSRF 
funds to projects in a timely manner. 
 

The Program relies on the Priority Ranking System described in the short-term goals. This 
ensures that funds are made available first to the greatest needs. Projects identified during the 
survey process are ranked in accordance with the system and placed on the Project Priority 
Planning List. Typically, projects addressing public health, as well as environmental and water 
quality concerns, receive the highest points.  Readiness to proceed is a primary factor for 
placement on the fiscal year’s Priority Funding List. 

 
7. Pursue the development of a mechanism to evaluate and prioritize the most appropriate, 

affordable, and holistic, state, regional, and/or watershed-based solutions that address 
both point and nonpoint source water pollution problems. 

 
As stated above, the Program will utilize information from the AWIN program to enable 
sustainability among small communities by determining appropriate and affordable projects. 
This program provides the SRF with additional tools for this purpose and allows the Program to 
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utilize the fund for the best project alternative. With the availability of the 2020 Census, the 
Program will be reviewing and updating the model with the newest Census data when it is 
available. While making these adjustments, variables of the AWIN model will also be evaluated 
to determine if they actually depict each community’s risk assessment. Upon further review, 
some variables may be added or removed depending on how they contribute. Additionally, the 
Program promotes the use of Fiscal Sustainability Plans and Cost-Effective Analysis reports.  
 
Included in the IUP as part of the planning list are nonpoint source projects. In addition, the 
program is working to improve the Linked Deposit Program for nonpoint source pollution. There 
has also been communication between the program and the Natural Resources Districts (NRDs) 
around the state to promote the use of the fund for the development of watershed management 
plans. Local NRDs are usually the first contact in developing these plans, and as funds become 
less available for the development phase of these plans, the CWSRF is a funding resource.  

 
8. Continue working with the U.S. Department of Agriculture-Rural Development and the 

Department of Economic Development Community Development Block Grant programs 
to provide affordable financing for municipal pollution prevention and control projects. 
 

The NDEE participates in the WWAC loan and grant pre-application screening process. WWAC 
participants include the U.S. Department of Agriculture-Rural Development for their water and 
wastewater grant and loan programs, the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 
(NDED) for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, and NDEE for the 
CWSRF programs. The WWAC reviews the project pre-application and then provides the 
applicant funding assistance options. While the committee ranks options, it is ultimately the 
applicant’s decision on which funding option is best for their community needs.  
 
C. FUNDED PROGRAM 

 
The Annual Report reflects the results and changes from the SFY 2021 IUP approved by the 
Environmental Quality Council (EQC) on June 15, 2020. Project information for the loans closed 
last fiscal year is provided in Attachment 4.  
 
D.      USEFUL LIFE OF PROJECT 

 
Design Life 
The design life of a project is the planned period of time that the project will meet the 
performance requirements of the intended purpose. Capital project financing payment terms 
should not exceed the design life or loan repayment will continue after the planned project may 
have become obsolete. Preliminary Engineering Reports (also called Facility Plans) generally 
plan for a 20-year design life but may be any period determined reasonable by the engineer and 
concurred on by the Department. Performance requirements may include projected influent 
loading from domestic/commercial/industrial sources, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permit requirements and limits, and owner/operator preferences or goals.  
 
Project Alternatives 
Preliminary Engineering Reports evaluate several alternatives, feasible project substitutes, 
which meet the technical performance requirements. Infeasible design approaches are not 
considered to be “Alternatives”; however, infeasible design approaches should be listed with 
their major shortcomings as part of a complete discussion on project alternatives. 
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Useful Life 
Useful Life of an Asset is the anticipated duration of time that the asset will provide enough 
performance value to keep the asset in operation.  

Useful Life of a Project is also defined as the anticipated duration of time that the assets procured 
will provide enough performance value to justify keeping the assets in operation. Wastewater 
projects often consist of assets such as structures or equipment working together to perform a 
function. In many circumstances, the useful life of an asset or project is dependent on the 
maintenance, rehabilitation, renewal, and/or replacement of component parts/assets and 
equipment that make up a project. 
 
Salvage Value 
The salvage value as described in CWSRF program is the net present value of the remaining 
straight-line depreciation of an asset. The net present value of remaining depreciation of an 
asset is included in a cost effectiveness analysis. 
 
Salvage value as defined in an engineering economics textbook may be omitted if it is not 
consequential towards the overall lifecycle cost of a project. In most cases, the actual salvage 
value of an asset is negative. It costs more money to remove and sell the asset at the end of its 
useful life than what it is worth. Moreover, the value of salvage, in most cases, is incidental 
compared to the initial capital cost, and operation and maintenance costs. For example, newly 
installed sewers begin their useful life with zero or a negative salvage value as the costs to dig 
up and resell the pipe would not return much cash. 
 
An engineering textbook definition: Salvage Value is the net cash value of an asset at the end 
of its useful life. The salvage value may be calculated by estimating the market value of selling 
the asset minus the estimated costs incurred to put the asset on the market, e.g. dismantling or 
handling costs. If the salvage value is significant, include the estimated net present salvage 
value as part of overall lifecycle costs. 

 
Examples of Useful Life 
 

1. Wastewater collection system: 
a. Force mains: 60 years 
b. Interceptors and sewer mains: 50 to 100 years 
c. Lift station equipment: 20 years 

2. Structures 
a. Buildings: 60 Years 
b. Civil structures: concrete tanks or basins, lift station structures: 75 years 
c. Outfall sewer lines: 30 years 

3. Process equipment and auxiliary equipment 
a. Pumps: 8 to 40 Years 
b. Flow measurement: 10 years 
c. Power generation systems: 20 years 
d. Electrical: 35 years 
e. SCADA components: 5-10 years 
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Table A - Asset Type 
Class Asset Type Useful Life Years 

1 
Civil Infrastructure (bridges, dams, basins, large concrete 
infrastructure) 50 

2 Pressure Pipework 60 

3 Sewers 
100(PVC) 

50-60 (Clay Pipe) 

4 Pumps 15-20 

5 Valves 25 

6 Motors 10 

7 Electrical 35 

8 Controls 15 

8a 
SCADA Programmable Logic Controllers (as per SCADA 
International) 10-15 

9 Building Assets 40 
10 Land 300 

Table B - Common Short-Lived Assets (SLA) for Drinking Water and Wastewater Treatment 
Works 

Drinking Water Utilities Wastewater Utilities 

Source Related Treatment Related 
Pumps and motors Pumps motors and controls 
  Chemical feed pumps 

Treatment Related Membrane, UV lamps 
Chemical feed pumps Valve actuators 
SCADA, PLCS or Controllers SCADA, PLCS or Controllers 
Valve actuators Aeration blowers, aeration diffusers, and nozzles 
Field & Process instrumentation 
equipment: water sensors, pressure 
transducers, flow meters, etc. 

Field & Process instrumentation equipment: water 
sensors, pressure transducers, flow meters, etc. 

Granular filter media, membranes, UV 
lamps Laboratory analyzers, centrifuges 
Air compressors Trickling filters, RBCs, etc. 
Pumps motors and controls Belt presses & driers 
Sludge collection, handling and dewatering Sludge collecting and dewatering equipment 
Chemical leak detection equipment Chemical leak detection equipment 
 Hazardous atmosphere detectors 

Distribution System and Storage 
Related Digester cleanout, inspection and minor repairs 
Repainting storage tanks  

Inspection of storage tanks every 3 to 5 
years Collection System Related 
Booster pump, pressure actuator valves Pumps and motors for lift stations 
 Ventilations systems for lift stations 

Treatment Works System Related Televising (Condition assessment of sewers) 
Generator, Full load tests on generators  
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The previous table is referenced from EPA Excel Spreadsheet Tool (XLS) Worksheet “A - 
Class and Condition” with a modification for line 8a.  

[***Note:  The above is no longer available on EPA website. Contact Nebraska Department of 
Environment & Energy for a copy.***] 

 
E.  PROGRAM CHANGES and CHANGES UNDER CONSIDERATION 
 
Program rates are presently set at 0.5% Interest plus 0.5% Administration Fee, which will be re-
evaluated in the spring of 2022. 
 
The SRF program will undergo a Lean Six Sigma Kaizen process improvement in the upcoming 
fiscal year.  
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Dear Mr. Phillips:  
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BACKGROUND  

The Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy (Department) – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program  
(Program) was established pursuant to Title VI of the Federal Clean Water Act, as amended by the Water Quality  
Act of 1987.  Created by 1988 Neb. Laws, LB 766, § 1, the Wastewater Treatment Facilities Construction 
Assistance Act is set out at Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-15,147 et seq. (Reissue 2014, Cum. Supp. 2020).  The Federal 
Water Quality Act and State statutes established the Program to provide loans, at reduced interest rates, to 
finance the construction of publicly and privately owned water pollution control facilities, non-point source pollution 
control projects, and estuary management plans.    
  
Instead of making grants to communities that pay for a portion of the building of wastewater treatment facilities, 
the Program provides for low-interest loans to finance the entire cost of qualified projects.  The Program provides 
a flexible financing source, which can be used for a variety of projects.  Loans made by the Program must be 
repaid within the lesser of 30 years or the projected useful life of the project, and all repayments, including interest 
and principal, must be used for the purposes of the Program.    
  
The Program was capitalized by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) through a series of 
annual grants starting in 1989.  States are required to provide an additional 20% of the Federal capitalization 
grant as matching funds in order to receive a Federal grant.  As of June 30, 2020, the EPA had awarded $232 
million in capitalization grants to the State.  Of the $232 million awarded, approximately $20 million was funded by 
the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA).  The $212 million not funded by ARRA required the State 
to contribute approximately $42.4 million in matching funds.  Since the inception of the Program, the State has 
appropriated $955,000 to meet the State’s matching requirement.  Additional matching funds have been obtained 
through the issuance of revenue bonds.  
  
The Program is administered by the Department.  The Department’s primary activities with regard to the Program 
include the making of loans for water pollution control facilities and the management and coordination of the 
Program.  The Nebraska Environmental Quality Council approves the rules and regulations of the Department, 
the Program’s Intended Use Plan, loan interest rates, and revenue bonding amounts.  
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KEY OFFICIALS AND DEPARTMENT CONTACT INFORMATION  

  
Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – 

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program 
Executive Management 

    
 Name  Title  

 
Jim Macy  Director  
Kevin Stoner  
Kara Valentine  
Ryan Phillips  

  

Deputy Director – 
Administration  

Deputy Director – Water Programs 
Accounting & Finance Manager  

  
    

  
  
  
  

Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy 
245 Fallbrook Blvd.  

P.O. Box 98922  
Lincoln, NE 68509 dee.ne.gov  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY CLEAN 
WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM  

  

- 3 -  

COMMENT AND RECOMMENDATION 

During our audit of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy (Department) – Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Program (Program), we noted certain matters involving the internal control over financial 
reporting and other operational matters that are presented here.  
  

 1.  Financial Statement Errors  
  
During our audit of the Program trial balance and financial statements, we noted the following errors:  
  

• The calculation of the compensated absences accrual amount is done based on the amount of time worked 
on the Program using payroll from the fiscal year.  When preparing the accrual for fiscal year 2020, the 
calculation was based incorrectly on payroll for fiscal year 2019, which caused the accrual to be understated 
by $39,504.  Consequently, the following accounts were misstated:  
  

o Administrative Costs from Fees expense was understated by $33,502.  
o    4% Administrative Costs from Grants expense was understated by $6,002.  
o    Compensated Absences – Current was understated by $4,346.  
o Compensated Absences – Non-Current was understated by $35,158.  

  
• During testing of expenses recorded in July and August of 2020, we identified one expense for services 

provided during fiscal year 2020 that was not accrued properly.  This caused both Administrative Costs 
from Fees expense and Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities to be understated by $10,410.  
  

• During testing of expenses, we identified two payments to Northbridge Environmental for the development 
of the Loan and Grants Tracking System that should have been capitalized but were expensed.  While 
reviewing the proposed adjustment, the Department identified an additional expense that should have been 
capitalized.  In total, Capital Assets were understated by $22,866.  

  
• During review of the financial statements, several amounts in the calculation of the Operating Expense 
classification were identified as not updated from the preparation of the fiscal year 2019 financial 
statements.  This caused Administrative Costs from Fees expense to be understated by $9,949 and 4% 
Administrative Costs from Grants expense to be overstated by $9,949.  

The Auditor of Public Accounts (APA) discussed the identified errors with the Department, and audit adjustments 
were made to correct the errors when proposed by the APA.    

A similar finding was noted during the previous four audits.  

A good internal control plan and sound accounting practices require procedures to ensure that accounting accrual 
entries and estimates are accurate and complete for proper financial statement presentation.  Without such 
procedures, there is an increased risk of materially misstating the financial statements. 

We recommend the Department strengthen procedures to ensure accounting entries are 
proper and complete for accurate financial presentation.  

 Department Response: The amount of manual processing time required to complete the CWSRF financials led to 
multiple financial statement errors.  The agency has an agreement with Northbridge, the Loan Grant Tracking 
Software provider, to create a set of financials statements which will prevent most of the manual errors.  The 
agency will use the EnterpriseOne trial balance while relying on the Northbridge software to produce the balance 
sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows.  Thus, eliminating the need for manual processing.  
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY  
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM  

  

COMMENT AND RECOMMENDATION 
(Concluded) 

  
It should be noted this report is critical in nature, containing only our comment and recommendation on the areas 
noted for improvement.  
  
Draft copies of this report were furnished to the Department to provide its management with an opportunity to 
review and to respond to the comment and recommendation contained herein.  The formal response received has 
been incorporated into this report.  A response that indicates corrective action has been taken was not verified at 
this time, but it will be verified in the next audit.  
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auditors.nebraska.gov  
  

NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY 
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM  

  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
  

Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy  
Lincoln, Nebraska  
  
Report on the Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s basic financial 
statements, as listed in the Table of Contents.    
  
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
  
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.    
  
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.    
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
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Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to previously present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities of the Nebraska Department of Environment and 
Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Emphasis of Matter  
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – 
Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program are intended to present the balance sheet, the changes in 
financial position, and cash flows of only that portion of the business-type activities of the State that is 
attributable to the transactions of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Program.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the balance sheet of the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in its financial position, or its 
cash flows, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.  

Other Matter  
Required Supplementary Information  
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 7 through 10 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide 
any assurance.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards and Regulatory Requirements  
Government Auditing Standards   
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 10, 2021, 
on our consideration of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving 
Fund Program’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is 
to solely describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Nebraska Department of 
Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Program’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance.  

Report on Regulatory Requirements  
In accordance with the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement, we have 
also issued our report dated March 10, 2021, on our consideration of the Nebraska Department of 
Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s internal control over compliance 
and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, and grants.  

 
Lincoln, Nebraska  Mark Avery, CPA  
March 10, 2021  Assistant Deputy Auditor   
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 NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
  

This section of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy (Department) – Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Program’s (Program) financial report presents a narrative overview and analysis of the financial 
activities of the Program for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  This analysis has been prepared by 
management of the Department and is intended to be read in conjunction with the Program’s financial statements 
and related footnotes, which follow this section.  
  
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
  
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Program’s basic financial statements.  
The Program’s basic financial statements include the following: 1) Balance Sheet; 2) Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; 3) Statement of Cash Flows; and 4) Notes to the Financial Statements.  
  
The Balance Sheet presents information on all of the Program’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between 
the two reported as net position.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents 
information showing how the Program’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year.  
  
The Statement of Cash Flows presents the Program’s flows of cash by defined categories.  The primary purpose 
of the Statement of Cash Flows is to provide information about the Program’s cash receipts and payments during 
the year.  
  
The Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements and provide information that 
is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the financial statements.  
  
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS – ENTERPRISE FUND  
  
Changes in Net Position  
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the Ending Net Position of the Program increased by 4.2%.  The 
increase in Net Position was largely impacted for three reasons.  The first is due to the volume of Operating 
Revenues collected, $5,319,226, which is loan interest and fees with an additional $2,078,766 interest earned 
through the Operating Investment Pool on the fund balance.  The second is the Program continued to receive 
Federal grants and drew down $8,013,306, which contributed on a FIFO basis in accordance with the request 
from the EPA.  The third is the costs of administering the Program were maintained at a low level.  
  
Changes in Current Liabilities  
Dollars Due to Grant Recipients increased by $225,912 in fiscal year 2020 over fiscal year 2019 because fiscal 
year 2020 had higher amounts for Loan Forgiveness and Small Town Grants.    
  
Changes in Net Investment in Capital Assets  
The fiscal year over year comparison represents an inception-to-date summary.  In fiscal year 2019, the Program 
invested $80,441 in the Loan and Grant Tracking System (LGTS).  In fiscal year 2020, an additional $39,252 was 
invested in LGTS software development.  
    
 
 
 
 



  NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY  
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

- 8 - 

 
 
 



  NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY  
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM 

- 9 - 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  
(Continued)  

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK  
  
The State has continued to take steps to avert major economic impacts both statewide and within communities.  
The small rural makeup of the State remains a challenge for communities in funding major capital projects.  
Declining population bases make it difficult to draw the amount of user fees needed to fund capital infrastructure 
projects to address wastewater issues.   
  
DEBT ADMINISTRATION  
  
Short-Term Debt  
The Program had debt activity during the fiscal year that was short-term in nature resulting from a bond issue.  
The issue was for $1,640,000, which was repaid and retired within the same fiscal year.  
  
LINKED DEPOSIT PROGRAM  
  
The Department continues the implementation of a linked deposit program for nonpoint source pollution control 
projects through revisions of Title 131 of the Nebraska Administrative Code.  The Clean Water State Revolving 
Fund will partner with eligible lending institutions, which will disburse loans to borrowers for these projects through 
a linked deposit loan program.  Under this program, the State agrees to place funds into low-yielding deposits, 
and the lending institution agrees to provide loans to borrowers at similarly reduced interest rate below common 
market rates.  Title 131 revisions were presented to the Environmental Quality Council in November 2015 and 
approved.  With those revisions, marketing and communication of the program has begun.  
  
LOANS AND GRANTS TRACKING SYSTEM SOFTWARE (LGTS)  
  
LGTS is a comprehensive software application developed by Northbridge Environmental, which is designed for 
Nebraska’s State Revolving Fund (SRF) managers and staff to track and manage all aspects of their Clean and 
Drinking Water SRF programs from project loan application to final repayment, as well as to track all capital 
contributions, set-aside spending, and bond issuance and repayment.    
  
The software was developed to address the data management needs for all of the steps in the SRF management 
process, including priority list development, facility location and identification, engineering review and milestone 
tracking, inspections, contacts, contract approvals and change orders, detailed payment request processing, 
project spending forecasts, encumbrances, funding draws and transfers, disbursements, amortization schedule 
creation and management, billing, repayment processing, fund deposits, and tracking of repaid funds by their 
original source.  The software also contains a general ledger that each state can customize to match existing 
accounting systems and create trial balances, financial statements, and related financial schedules.    
  
LGTS has built-in role based security that requires users to log in each time they open the program.  This security 
system is based on defined roles that each user is playing in the program.  Security roles limit users to performing 
certain functions.  
  
Historical data is extracted from spreadsheets or other data systems to load LGTS with data, test the validity of 
the data, and ensure that LGTS can be used effectively.  This task is handled by a combination of staff efforts to 
assemble existing data sources and outside help to ensure that the data is used properly.  This process usually 
yields a dual benefit of having a system with clean data and provides a quality assurance check of the many 
transactions that have occurred years ago and often by a number of staff members.  
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  
(Concluded)  

  
Nebraska’s State Revolving Fund programs have begun implementation of the LGTS system.  During fiscal year 
2014, planning of the implementation phases, business rules, and hardware/software installations occurred.  
During fiscal years 2015 through 2020, the system was used concurrently with existing systems to create a basis 
for reliability and consistency.  Once dependable, reconciled results will be established, the existing internal 
system will be discontinued, and LGTS will become the sole system for use within the SRF program alongside the 
State Accounting system.   
  
Contract costs for the purchase and implementation of the LGTS system previously had been handled through the 
existing Northbridge contract with the Federal Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) procurement.  Therefore, 
expenditures were withheld as an “in-kind” deduction to the total annual grant, which was awarded to the Program 
each year.  The Federal EPA staff negotiated, monitored, and managed the Northbridge contract for LGTS.  The 
EPA program contract was cancelled and the final expenditures were in October 2019.  Beginning in May 2020, 
the Agency funds the program enhancements by paying Northbridge invoices directly.  
  
The Department is capitalizing the costs that NDEE pays directly to Northbridge, as well as the cost of staff time 
utilized for implementation.  
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BALANCE SHEET 
June 30, 2020 

Enterprise Fund 

 
ASSETS 
  CURRENT ASSETS: 

 

    Cash in State Treasury (Note 2) $       
106,808,431 

    Due from Federal Government               23,664
    Interest Receivable             150,990
    Loans Receivable (Note 3)        14,352,578 
        TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

  NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

     121,335,663 

    Loans Receivable (Note 3)         
215,894,985 

    Capital Assets, Net (Note 4)             372,931 
        TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS      216,267,916 
        TOTAL ASSETS $   337,603,579 

 

LIABILITIES 
  CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

 

    Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities $            59,642 
    Due to Grant Recipients (Note 1)             312,288 
    Compensated Absences (Note 6)                 6,432 
        TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES    
 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

            378,362 

    Compensated Absences (Note 6)               52,040 
        TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES               52,040 
        TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET Position 

            430,402 

    Net Investment in Capital Assets            372,931 
    Unrestricted     336,800,246 
        TOTAL NET POSITION     337,173,177 
        TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION $   337,603,579 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020 

   Enterprise Fund 

 
OPERATING REVENUES:  

    Loan Fees Administration (Note 8) $       1,692,988 
    Interest on Loans          3,626,238 
        TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 
OPERATING EXPENSES: 

$       5,319,226 

    Administrative Costs from Fees (Note 10)             622,226 
    4% Administrative Costs From Grants (Note 10)             135,949 
    Small Town Grants (Note 10)             512,384 
    Project Planning Activities and Report Grants (Note 10)               18,828 
    Loan Forgiveness (Note 10)             544,633 
        TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES $       1,834,020 

OPERATING INCOME 

NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE): 

         3,485,206 

    Capital Contributions - Federal Grants (Note 7)          7,988,498 
    Capital Contributions - Federal Grants - Capital Assets               24,808 
    Interest on Fund Balance - State Operating Investment Pool (Note 9)          2,078,766 
    Bond Revenue (Expense)                 2,487 
        TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSE)        10,094,559 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION        13,579,765 

TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR      323,593,412 

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $   337,173,177 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020 

Enterprise Fund 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:  

    Receipts from Customers $       21,315,902 
    Payments for Administration            (745,550) 
    Payments for Small Town Grants            (327,858) 
    Payments for Project Planning Activities and Report Grants              (18,828) 
    Payments for Loan Forgiveness            (503,247) 
    Payments to Borrowers       (13,768,904) 
        NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

$         5,951,515 

    Grants Received from the Environmental Protection Agency            8,000,729 
    Receipts from Bond Issue            1,640,000 
    Repayment of Bond         (1,640,000) 
    Bond Receipts (Payments)                   2,487 
        NET CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

           8,003,216 

    Capital Contributions                 24,808 
    Purchase of Capital Assets              (39,252) 
        NET CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES $           (14,444) 
  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:  

Interest on Investments           2,108,018 
        NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES $        2,108,018 
  
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents         16,048,305 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR         90,760,126 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $    106,808,431 
 
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH FLOWS     
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

 

        Operating Income 
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH     
FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

$        3,485,206 

        (Increase)/Decrease in Loans Receivable           2,227,772 
        Increase/(Decrease) in Compensated Absences                  3,474 
        Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities                  9,151 
        Increase/(Decrease) in Payables to Grant Recipients              225,912 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $        5,951,515 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020  

  
1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
  

A. Basis of Presentation  
  
The accompanying basic financial statements of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy 
(Department) – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program (Program) have been prepared in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), as applied to 
governmental units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard 
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  
  
The basic financial statements have been prepared primarily from accounts maintained by the State 
Accounting Administrator of the Department of Administrative Services (DAS).  

  
B. Reporting Entity  
  
The Program is established under and governed by the Clean Water Act of the Federal Government and 
by laws of the State of Nebraska.  The Department is a State agency established under and governed by 
the laws of the State of Nebraska. As such, the Department is exempt from State and Federal income 
taxes.  The Program’s management has also considered all potential component units for which it is 
financially accountable and other organizations that are fiscally dependent on the Program or whose 
relationship with the Program is so significant that exclusion would be misleading or incomplete.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has set forth criteria to be considered in determining 
financial accountability.  These criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing 
body, and (1) the ability of the Department to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential for 
the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the 
Department.  The Department is also considered financially accountable if an organization is fiscally 
dependent on, and there is potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or 
impose specific financial burdens on, the Department, regardless of whether the organization has (1) a 
separately elected governing board, (2) a governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or 
(3) a jointly appointed board.  

  
These financial statements present the Program.  No component units were identified.  The Program is 
part of the primary government for the State of Nebraska’s reporting entity.    
  
C. Fund Structure  
  
The Program’s accounts are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting to ensure 
compliance with limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to it.  Under fund 
accounting, individual funds are established for the purpose of carrying on activities or attaining objectives 
in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions, or limitations.  Each individual fund is a self-balancing 
set of accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together with liabilities and residual equities 
or balances, and changes therein.  
  
The State accounting system includes the following funds, as identified in the Wastewater Treatment 
Facilities Construction Assistance Act:  
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(Continued) 
• Clean Water Facilities Funds – Federal Funds 48412 and 48413; and Repaid Principal and  

Bond Funds 68471, 68472, and 68473.  
• Administration Funds – Cash Funds 28460.  

These funds are used to account for revenues and expenses for loans and administrative expenses of the 
Program.  

The activity of these State of Nebraska funds has been combined and reported as an enterprise fund, 
which under governmental GAAP is a proprietary fund type.  This fund type reflects transactions used to 
account for those operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business.  
The accounting for the Program’s transactions in this manner is a requirement of the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA), as it and the Department have decided that the determination of the revenues 
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is necessary to demonstrate the success of the Program 
and to assure the EPA the Program will be available in perpetuity, as intended.  

  
This fund classification differs from the classification used in the State of Nebraska’s Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  The CAFR classifies the Cash funds, Federal funds, and Bond funds 
as special revenue funds, as they meet the definition of special revenue funds under GASB Statement 
54.  In that statement, special revenue funds are defined as funds used to account for and report the 
proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specific 
purposes.  
  

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting  
  
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement 
focus and basis of accounting.  An enterprise fund is accounted for on a flow of economic resources 
measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the 
operation of the fund are included on the balance sheet.  Enterprise fund operating statements present 
increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position.  

  
Enterprise funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, revenues are recorded when 
earned, and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.  
  
E. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
  
In addition to bank accounts and petty cash, this classification includes all short-term investments, such 
as certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, and U.S. treasury bills.  These short-term investments 
have original maturities (remaining time to maturity at acquisition) of three months or less.  These 
investments are stated at cost, which at June 30, 2020, approximates fair value due to their short-term 
nature.  Banks pledge collateral, as required by law, to guarantee State funds held in time and demand 
deposits.  
  
Cash and cash equivalents are under the control of the State Treasurer or other administrative bodies, as 
determined by law.  All cash deposited with the State Treasurer is initially maintained in a pooled cash 
account.  On a daily basis, the State Treasurer invests cash not needed for current operations with the 
State’s Investment Council, which maintains an operating investment pool for such investments.  Interest 
earned on these investments is allocated to funds based on their percentage of the investment pool.  
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F. Loans Receivable  
The State operates the Program as a direct loan program, whereby loans are made to communities.  Loan 
funds are disbursed to the local agencies as they expend funds for the purposes of the loan.  Interest is 
calculated from the date the funds are advanced.  After the final disbursement has been made, the 
amortization schedule identified in the loan agreement is adjusted for the actual amounts disbursed.  The 
interest rates on loans range from 1.25% to 4.0%, and the terms on outstanding loans range from 9.5 to 
30.5 years.     

The Program loans are funded from Federal capitalization grants, State match funding, and the Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund.  The grants are funded, on average, 83.33% from Federal funds and 16.67% from 
State match funds.  Reimbursements to communities are paid 100% from State matching funds until they 
have been exhausted, and then from Federal capitalization grant funds or Clean Water State Revolving 
Funds.  The Clean Water State Revolving Fund is financed through principal repayments plus interest 
earnings available to finance new projects, allowing the funds to “revolve” over time.    

The current loans receivable amount was determined using the amount of principal payment due to the 
Program at June 30, 2020, which is collectible in fiscal year 2021.  Loans receivable that were paid in full, 
prior to their due date, as of August 31, 2020, were included in the current loans receivable balance as 
opposed to the long-term receivable balances.  

No provisions were made for uncollectible accounts, as management believed all loans would be repaid 
according to the loan terms.    
  
G. Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at fiscal year-end and revenues and expenditures during the 
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
  
H. Compensated Absences  
All permanent employees working for the Program earn sick and annual leave and are allowed to 
accumulate compensatory leave rather than be paid overtime.  Temporary and intermittent employees are 
not eligible for paid leave.  The liability has been calculated using the vesting method, in which leave 
amounts, for both employees currently eligible to receive termination payments and other employees 
expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination, are included.  

Program employees accrue vested annual leave at a variable rate based on years of service.  Generally, 
accrued annual leave cannot exceed 35 days at the end of a calendar year.  Employees accrue sick 
leave at a variable rate based on years of service.  In general, accrued sick leave cannot exceed 240 
days.  There is no maximum limit on the accumulation of sick leave days for employees under certain 
labor contracts.  Sick leave is not vested except upon death or upon reaching the retirement eligibility age 
of 55 – or a younger age, if the employee meets all criteria necessary to retire under the primary 
retirement plan covering his/her State employment, at which time the State is liable for 25 percent of the 
employee’s accumulated sick leave.   
Employees under certain labor contracts can only be paid a maximum of 60 days.  
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(Concluded)  
 

The Program’s financial statements recognize the expense and accrued liability when vacation and 
compensatory leave is earned or when sick leave is expected to be paid as termination payments.  

  
I. Due to Grant Recipients  

The Program awards Project Planning Activities and Report Grants, and Small Town Grants to communities 
with populations below 10,000 demonstrating serious financial hardship.  Municipalities with wastewater 
treatment facility projects that have made application for grants and whose needs are identified on the 
Project Priority Planning List on the annual Intended Use Plan and who also meet the population and 
financial hardship guidelines are given priority for receiving grants.  

The Program may choose to provide additional subsidization for municipalities in the form of loan 
forgiveness, up to a maximum of $150,000 per project.  The Program’s power and authority to distribute 
the additional subsidization is an existing authority under the State Environmental Protection Act at Neb. 
Rev. Stat. § 81-1504(4) (Cum. Supp. 2020) and the Wastewater Treatment Facilities Construction 
Assistance Act at Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-15,150 (Cum. Supp. 2020).  To qualify for loan forgiveness, a 
community must be considered disadvantaged in regards to meeting affordability criteria, and have a 
population equal to or fewer than 10,000 people.  The loan recipient will not be required to repay the portion 
of the loan principal that has been designated as loan forgiveness under the terms and conditions of the 
loan contract.  Loan forgiveness is considered a grant for purposes of the financial statements, since 
repayment is not required.   

For Project Planning Activities and Report Grants, Small Town Grants and Loan Forgiveness awards, 
once the municipality submits proof of vendor payment to the Department, it is reimbursed for its project 
costs by the Program.  The Program’s financial statements recognized the expense and accrued liability 
to the Program when the municipality incurred the project expense, which may not have been in the same 
fiscal year as when costs were reimbursed by the Program.  
  
J. Operating Revenues and Expenses  

Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering 
goods in connection with the Program’s principal ongoing operations.  The operating revenues of the 
Program include loan fees administration and interest on loans, since making loans is the primary purpose 
of the Program.  The operating expenses of the Program are administration expenses, small town grants, 
project planning activities and report grants, and loan forgiveness.  

K. Capital Assets  

The Program has only one capital asset, the Loans and Grants Tracking System (LGTS) software, and it 
is recorded at cost.  The Department began the development phase of the LGTS software during the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, and is anticipating this phase to be completed during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2021.  The LGTS software is considered an Intangible Capital Asset, and the Department 
follows the capitalization policy set forth by the State of Nebraska for Intangible Capital Assets, which 
requires capitalization of such assets when the cost of such asset is in excess of $100,000 and has an 
expected life of greater than one year.  The LGTS software has an estimated useful life of seven years.  
Depreciation/amortization will begin upon completion of the development phase and the software being 
put into production and will be computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 
the asset.  
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2. Cash in State Treasury  

Cash in State Treasury, as reported on the balance sheet, is under the control of the Nebraska State 
Treasurer or other administrative bodies, as determined by law.  Investment of all available cash is made 
by the State Investment Officer on a daily basis, based on total bank balances.  These funds are held in 
the State of Nebraska Operating Investment Pool (OIP), an internal investment pool.  Additional information 
on the deposits and investments portfolio, including investment policies, risks, and types of investments, 
can be found in the State of Nebraska’s CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  All interest revenue 
is allocated to the General Fund except allocations required by law to be made to other funds.  All funds of 
the Program were designated for investment during fiscal year 2020.  Amounts are allocated on a monthly 
basis based on average balances of all invested funds.  

3. Loans Receivable  

As of June 30, 2020, the Program had 188 outstanding community loans that totaled $230,247,563.  The 
outstanding balances of the 10 communities with the largest loan balances, which represent 75.4% of the 
total loans, were as follows:  
  

 Community  Outstanding Balance  

 
 Omaha  $              68,506,000   
 Grand Island  29,341,217  
 York  22,047,195  
 Lincoln  17,328,218  
 Kearney  10,433,877  
 Gretna  6,371,765  
 Dakota City  6,056,666  
 South Sioux City  4,896,153  
 Wayne  4,638,088  
 Broken Bow  3,961,187  

   TOTAL   $            173,580,366   

4. Capital Assets  

The Program’s capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows 

Beginning  
 Balance As  Ending  
    Restated    Additions    Retirements    Balance  

 

Software Development In-Progress                    

      Loans and Grants Tracking System (LGTS)   $     333,679     $       39,252     $                -     $      372,931   

5. Bonds Payable 

The State has entered into a special financing arrangement with Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
(NIFA), an independent instrumentality of the State exercising essential public functions, to provide 
matching funds for the Program.  NIFA issues the bonds, and the proceeds are held by the Trustee until 
they are needed by the Program for loan purposes.    
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5. Bonds Payable (Concluded)  
  

The EPA requires the Program to provide 20% matching funds for each capitalization grant under § 
602(b)(2) of the Federal Clean Water Act.  Interest revenue from Program loans is pledged to pay off the 
bonds.  During the fiscal year, the Program issued and retired Series 2019B short-term revenue bonds to 
meet the requirement of matching each capitalization grant with 20% of non-Federal funds.  Bonds 
Payable activity for fiscal year 2020 on the short-term bond was as follows:  
  

  Beginning               Ending Balance  Additions       Retirements  Balance  
 Bonds Payable   $     -   $  1,640,000    $  1,640,000   $    -  

              
6. Noncurrent Liabilities  

  
Changes in noncurrent liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2020, were as follows:   
  

   Amounts Due  
 Beginning  Ending  Within One  
 Balance  Increases  Decreases  Balance  Year  

Compensated    
    Absences  $    50,048  $     1,992  $                -  $       52,040  $               6,432  

  
7. Capital Contributions  

  
Included in the net position is the total amount of capitalization grants drawn from the EPA by the 
Department.  The following summarizes the capitalization grants awarded and drawn, as well as the 
remaining balance as of June 30, 2020.  The year column relates directly to the grant amount column and 
represents the fiscal year the grant funds were appropriated by Congress.  The amount drawn column is 
as of June 30, 2020, and may have been drawn over multiple years.  
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7. Capital Contributions (Concluded)  

       Federal Fiscal 
Year Available       Grant Amount  Amount Drawn        Balance  

 
1989 4,773,100   $         4,773,100           $                    -   
1990 4,964,560          4,964,560                                 -  
1991 10,821,580        10,821,580                                 -  
1992 9,938,500          9,938,500                                 -  
1993 9,830,300          9,830,300                                 -  
1994 6,061,600          6,061,600                                 -  
1995 6,263,600          6,263,600                                 -  
1996 10,319,661        10,319,661                                 -  
1997 3,119,900          3,119,900                                 -  
1998 7,019,996          7,019,996                                 -  
1999 6,857,600          6,857,600                                 -  
2000 6,834,000          6,834,000                                 -  
2001 6,797,400          6,797,400                                 -  
2002 6,855,000          6,855,000                                 -  
2003 7,069,900         7,069,900                                 -  
2004 6,747,100         6,747,100                                 -  
2005 5,467,300         5,467,300                                 -  
2006 4,424,300         4,424,300                                 -  
2007 5,429,600         5,429,600                                 -  
2008 3,415,700         3,415,700                                 -  
2009–ARRA  20,045,000      20,045,000                                -  
2009 3,415,700        3,415,700                                -  
2010 10,422,000      10,422,000                                -  
2011 7,529,000        7,529,000                                -  
2012 7,075,582        7,075,582                                -  
2013 6,663,899        6,663,899                                -  
2014 7,144,000        7,144,000                                -  
2015 7,080,590        7,080,590                                -  
2016 6,771,276        6,771,276                                -  
2017 6,750,000                6,750,000                              -                                   
2018    8,070,261                7,952,720                      117,541  

 2019                   8,109,000     7,875,569                      233,431  
 TOTAL   $             232,087,005 $ 231,736,033         $        350,972                                                                                                   

Not included in the above Grant Totals are the amounts set aside as in-kind contributions for the Loans 
and Grant Tracking System (LGTS) software development.  The 2012, 2013, 2016, and 2018 grants had 
$107,476, $153,043, $31,724, and $121,739 set aside as in-kind amounts for the use by the EPA for the 
development of the new LGTS software.    

The amount of in-kind contributions utilized for the LGTS software during the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2020, was $24,808.  The total amount utilized for LGTS as of June 30, 2020, was $372,931.  Additional in-
kind contributions were received and capitalized for the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Program, 
which also utilizes the LGTS software.    
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8. Loan Fees Administration  

To meet the long-term administrative needs of the Program, an annual fee of up to 1% is charged against 
the outstanding principal on loans.  These fees are calculated on a semi-annual basis and billed when loan 
principal and interest payments are due.  These fees are not included in the loan principal.  The Director of 
the Program may waive this fee during construction, except on projects that only receive interim financing 
during construction.  The fee is applied to all loans in accordance with Title 131 Nebraska Administrative 
Code (NAC) Chapter 2 and the loan agreements.  
  

9. Interest on Fund Balance – State Operating Investment Pool 

The reported amount represents the earnings the Program received from idle funds invested by the 
Nebraska State Treasurer with the State’s Investment Council.  Interest is credited on approximately the 
25th day of each subsequent month.  
  

10. Operating Expenses 

The Operating Expenses of the Program are classified, for financial reporting purposes, into five categories:  
  
Administrative Costs from Fees  

To meet the long-term administrative needs of the Program, an annual fee of up to 1% is charged against 
the outstanding principal on loans.  This fee is deposited into a separate account and is used for 
administrative costs of the Program and other eligible water quality related purposes.  The fee on a loan 
made from leveraged bond proceeds may be set to reflect the cost of issuing bonds and management of 
the leveraged loan portfolio.  
  
4% Administrative Costs from Grants  

The maximum amount allowable for administering and managing the Program is 4% of the cumulative 
amount of capitalization grant awards received.  When the administrative expenses of the Program 
exceed 4%, the excess must be paid from sources outside of Program grant awards.   
  
Small Town Grants 

Per Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-15,151(2) (Cum. Supp. 2020) and Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-15,153(11) (Cum. Supp. 
2020), Small Town Grants are made available to communities that have populations of 10,000 inhabitants or 
less and demonstrate serious financial hardship.  The maximum amount to be awarded in Small Town 
Grants is set at 50% of the revenue from administrative fees collected in the prior fiscal year.  In the 2020 
Intended Use Plan (IUP), the Department set the upper limit of grant to each community at $250,000 per 
project, concurrent with a Program loan.  Projects are prioritized based on the type of project and Median 
Household Income of the community.  
  
Project Planning Activities and Report Grants 

Project Planning Activities and Report Grants may be provided to municipalities with populations of 
10,000 or fewer inhabitants that demonstrate serious financial hardship.  Municipalities with wastewater 
treatment facility project needs that are identified on the project priority list, have not received a grant in 
the past five years, and also qualify for a Small Town Grant can receive up to 90% of project costs up to a 
maximum of $20,000 per project.  These grants are funded through the Administrative Cash Fund.  
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10. Operating Expenses (Concluded)  

Loan Forgiveness 

The State may choose to provide additional subsidization in the form of loan forgiveness up to a maximum 
of $150,000 per project to qualifying disadvantaged communities that meet the affordability criteria found 
in the 2020 IUP.  Awarding loan forgiveness is dependent on the availability of funding from Federal 
capitalization grants and the total amount of funds the Program decides to allocate for forgiveness from 
each grant.  The Program will reserve up to $819,500 (approximately 10% of the Capitalization Grant) for 
forgiveness to be used for additional subsidization.  The Program’s authority to distribute the additional 
subsidization is an existing authority under the State Environmental Protection Act at Neb. Rev. Stat. § 
811504(4) (Cum. Supp. 2020) and the Wastewater Treatment Facilities Construction Assistance Act at 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 81-15,150 (Cum. Supp. 2020).  Together, these statutes allow the Program to accept and 
expend Federal grants for designated projects.  Loan forgiveness discharges the community from repaying 
that portion of the principal amount of its loan under the terms and conditions of the loan contract.  

11. State Employees Retirement Plan (Plan)  

The single-employer Plan became effective by statute on January 1, 1964.  The Public Employees 
Retirement Board was created in 1971 to administer the Plan.  The Plan consists of a defined contribution 
option and a cash balance benefit.  The cash balance benefit is a type of defined benefit plan.  Each 
member employed and participating in the retirement system prior to January 1, 2003, elected either to 
continue participation in the defined contribution option or to begin participation in the cash balance benefit.  
The defined contribution option is closed to new entrants.  All new members of the Plan on and after January 
1, 2003, become members of the cash balance benefit.  The benefits and funding policy of the Plan are 
established and can only be amended by the Nebraska Legislature.  

All permanent full-time employees are required to begin participation in the retirement system upon 
employment.  All permanent part-time employees who have attained the age of 18 years may exercise the 
option to begin participation in the retirement system.  

Contribution – Per statute, each member contributes 4.8% of his or her compensation.  The Department 
matches the member’s contribution at a rate of 156%.  The employee’s and employer’s contributions are 
kept in separate accounts.  
  
The employee’s account is fully vested.  The employer’s account is fully vested after a total of three years 
of participation in the system, including credit for participation in another Nebraska governmental plan 
prior to actual contribution to the Plan.  
  
Defined Contribution Option – Upon attainment of age 55, regardless of service, the retirement 
allowance shall be equal to the sum of the employee and employer account.  Members have several 
forms of payment available, including withdrawals, deferrals, annuities, or a combination of these.  

  

Cash Balance Benefit – Upon attainment of age 55, regardless of service, the retirement allowance will 
be equal to the accumulated employee and employer cash balance accounts, including interest credits, 
annuitized for payment in the normal form.  The normal form of payment is a single-life annuity with five-
year certain, payable monthly.  Members will have the option to convert their member cash balance 
account to a monthly annuity with built-in cost-of-living adjustments of 2.5% annually.  Also available are 
additional forms of payment allowed under the Plan, which are actuarially equivalent to the normal form, 
including the option of lump-sum or partial lump-sum.   
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11. State Employees Retirement Plan (Plan) (Concluded)  

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, employees contributed $17,444, and the Department contributed 
$27,213.  A separate plan report is issued and can be obtained from the Nebraska Public Employees 
Retirement System.  This report contains full pension-related disclosures.  

The State of Nebraska CAFR also includes pension-related disclosures.  The CAFR report is available 
from the Nebraska Department of Administrative Services – Accounting Division or on the Nebraska 
Auditor of Public Accounts’ website at auditors.nebraska.gov. 

12. Contingencies and Commitments  

Risk Management – The Department is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage 
to, or destruction of assets, errors or omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters.  The 
Department, as part of the primary government for the State, participates in the State’s risk management 
program.  DAS is responsible for maintaining the insurance and self-insurance programs for the State.  
The State generally self-insures for general liability, employee health care, employee indemnification, and 
workers’ compensation.  The State has chosen to purchase insurance for:  

A. Motor vehicle liability, which includes $4,700,000 with a self-insured retention of $300,000.  
Insurance is also purchased, with various limits and deductibles, for physical damage and 
uninsured and underinsured motorists.  State agencies have the option to purchase coverage for 
physical damage to vehicles.  There is a $500 deductible for this coverage.  

B. Life insurance for eligible employees.  

C. Crime coverage, with a limit of $10,975,000 for each loss, and a $25,000 self-insured retention 
per incident subject to specific conditions, limits, and exclusions.  

D. Real and personal property on a blanket basis for losses up to $400,700,000, with a self-insured 
retention of $300,000 per loss occurrence.  Newly acquired properties are covered up to $10 
million for 120 days, if the property has not been reported.  If not reported after 120 days, the 
property is not covered.  The perils of flood, earthquake, and acts of terrorism have various 
coverage, sublimits, and self-insurance.  State agencies have the option to purchase building 
contents and inland marine coverage. 

Details of the various insurance coverages are available from DAS – Risk Management Division. 

No settlements exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  Workers’ 
compensation is funded in the Worker’s Compensation Internal Service Fund through assessments on 
each department based on total department payroll and past experience.  Tort claims, theft of, damage 
to, or destruction of assets, errors or omissions, and natural disasters would be funded through the State 
General Fund or by individual department assessments, as directed by the Legislature, unless covered 
by purchased insurance.  No amounts for estimated claims have been reported in the Program’s financial 
statements.  Health care insurance is funded in the Insurance Trust Funds through a combination of 
employee and State contributions.    

Litigation – The potential amount of liability involved in litigation pending against the Department, if 
any, could not be determined at this time.  However, it is the Department’s opinion that final settlement 
of those matters should not have an adverse effect on the Department’s ability to administer current 
programs.  Any judgment against the Department would have to be processed through the State Claims 
Board and be approved by the Legislature.  
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY   

CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM  

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 

ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF   
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE   

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  
  

Independent Auditor’s Report  
 
Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy   
Lincoln, Nebraska  
  
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 10, 2021.    

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Nebraska Department of 
Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s internal control over financial reporting 
(internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund  
Program’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified.   
  

  

NEBRASKA AUDITOR OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 
  

  Charlie Janssen 
  Charlie.Janssen@nebraska.gov   

  State Auditor   PO Box 98917   
State Capitol, Suite 2303   

Lincoln,  Nebraska  68509   
402 - 471 - 2111 , FAX  402 - 471 - 3301   
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Compliance and Other Matters  
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy 
– Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s financial statements are free of material misstatement, we 
performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit 
and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
  
Additional items  
We also noted a certain additional item that we reported to management of the Nebraska Department of 
Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program in the Comment Section of this report 
as Comment Number 1 (Financial Statement Errors).  
  
Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy Response to the Finding  
The Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s 
response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the Comment Section of the report.  The Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s response was not 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it.  Where no response is indicated, the Nebraska Department of Environment and 
Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program declined to respond.  
  
Purpose of this Report  
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the result of that testing, not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose.   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lincoln, Nebraska  Mark Avery, CPA  
March 10, 2021   Assistant Deputy Auditor   
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NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY   
CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM  

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

WITH REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY – CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
PROGRAM IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OMB COMPLIANCE SUPPLEMENT 

  
  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
  
  
Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy    
Lincoln, Nebraska   
  
Report on Compliance for the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Program  
  
We have audited the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the Nebraska Department of Environment and 
Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program for the year ended June 30, 2020.    
  
Management’s Responsibility  
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program.   
  
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Nebraska Department of Environment and 
Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program based on our audit of the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform 
Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Nebraska Department of 
Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s compliance with those requirements 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.  
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 We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program.  However, our audit 
does not provide a legal determination of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund Program’s compliance.  

Opinion on the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program In our opinion, the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving 
Fund Program complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water 
State Revolving Fund Program for the year ended June 30, 2020.   

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance   

Management of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund 
Program is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered 
the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program’s internal 
control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the Nebraska 
Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for 
the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy – Clean Water State 
Revolving Fund Program’s internal control over compliance.  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a Federal program on a timely 
basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a Federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely 
basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a Federal program that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified.  

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

  
 
 

Lincoln, Nebraska  Mark Avery, CPA  
March 10, 2021  Assistant Deputy 

Auditor  
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